102230-1

No. 389065

THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals Division III No. 38906-5-III

Spokane Superior Court No. 21-2-03396-32

HAROLD T. MESSERSMITH and LISA R. BRYANT, Husband and Wife,

Petitioner,

v.

TOWN OF ROCKFORD

Respondent.

PETITION TO SUPREME COURT FOR REVIEW OF A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEALS

Allen T. Miller Paine Hamblen, LLP 717 W. Sprague Avenue Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 455-6000

I. Facts
II. Procedural History
E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED
I. Standard of Review
<i>II. This Court should grant review on the grounds that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with existing precedent. </i>
III. Alternatively, this Court should grant review as this matter is an issue of substantial public concern
i. This Court should recognize the distinction between towns and cities under the Nonuser statute
ii. The Laws of 1889-1890, Chapter 7, § 15 should be applied to invalidate the Appellant Town of Rockford's position that Center Avenue and the Alley are not property of the Respondents
F. CONCLUSION14

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)

Cases
<i>Brokaw v. Town of Stanwood</i> 79 Wash. 322, 140 P. 358 (1914)9
<i>Northwestern Indus., Inc. v. City of Seattle</i> 33 Wash. App. 757, 658 P.2d 24 (1983) 9
Parosa v. Tacoma 57 Wash.2d 409, 357 P.2d 873 (1960) 11, 13
<i>Slack v. Luke</i> 192 Wash. App. 909, 370 P.3d 49 (2016)7
State Statutes
RCW 36.87.090
Rules of Appellate Procedure
RAP 13.4(b)
Other Authorities
LAWS OF 1889-1890, Chapter 7, § 15 6, 10-11, 13
1961 Wash. Laws Ex. Sess., Chapter 16, § 1 11-13

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Harold T. Messersmith and Lisa R. Bryant ("the Messersmiths") were the Plaintiffs in the Superior Court, the Respondents in the Court of Appeals, and are the Petitioners before the Supreme Court.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Messersmith v. Town of Rockford, No. 38906-5-III. A copy of the decision, filed May 18, 2023, is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through 9. A copy of the order denying petitioner's motion for reconsideration, filed June 29, 2023, is in the Appendix at pages A-10.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

 Whether the Court of Appeals reversing the Superior Court's grant of summary judgment results in genuine issues of material fact that need to be resolved on remand at the Superior Court.

- II. Whether the Court of Appeals properly analyzed the LAWS OF 1889-90, ch. 19, § 32, now codified as RCW 36.87.090.
- III. Whether the Court of Appeals properly analyzed the LAWS OF 1889-1890, ch. 7, § 15, which should invalidate the alleged establishment of the alley and streets by the Town of Rockford on Petitioner's property.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Facts

On August 12, 2019, Respondents, Harold Messersmith and Lisa Bryant, acquired legal title to the property commonly referred to as 442 E. Lee Street, Rockford, WA 99030 ("Petitioners' Property"). CP 33. Petitioners' Property borders and/or abuts undeveloped portions of Emma Street and Center Avenue, which contains an undeveloped alley running through the property ("Subject Properties"). CP 49-59. The Subject Properties are in Waltman's Addition to the Town of Rockford. Both were initially filed on June 5, 1889, with Spokane County and subsequently recorded on June 12, 1889, in Volume B of Plats, Page 20 with the Spokane County Auditor. CP 4, 20. A year later, the Town of Rockford Incorporated, and Waltman's Addition was annexed into the Town of Rockford. CP 5, 28. Since its filing, however, no effort has been made to develop or open the Subject Properties to the public. CP 33-35, 49-50, 62-63.

Over the 13[•] years of nonuse by the Town of Rockford, the owners of Petitioners' Property (including the predecessors of the property) developed the Subject Properties to include exclusive features such as a corral, garden, shed, and fences. CP 33-35, 96-97. For example, Walter and Ruby Faire have resided in Rockford, Washington since 1955. In 196[•], the couple purchased eighteen acres on 115 N. Center Street across from 442 E. Lee Street, Rockford, WA 99[•]3[•], which ultimately became the Petitioners' property. A-12. In 1968, Bud Storm purchased the Petitioners' property. *Id.* Mr. Storm subsequently built a house and put up an electric fence around the perimeter. *Id.* Mr. Storm had two horses and Mr. Faire would stretch a hose across the street to water the Storms' horses in the 1970's. *Id.*

Mr. Faire and Mr. Storm served as elected officials together on the Rockford Town Council. *Id.* As a Town Council member, Mr. Storm petitioned to have Center Avenue vacated. *Id.* After three years of residing on the property, Storm sold the land to Terry and Marylin Frost who built the current corral and fences on the Petitioners' property. *Id.* The Frost deed, dated November 25, 1975, described the Petitioners' Property as follows:

Lots 1 to 16, inclusive, Block 14 Waltman's Addition to the Town of Rockford, according to plat recorded in Volume "B" of Plats, page 20, in Spokane County, Washington, <u>together with that part of the vacated alley</u> <u>in said Block 14.</u>

CP 100 (emphasis added); A-15.

At no point during the construction of Rockford has the Town of Rockford or the County of Spokane ever attempted to use or open the Subject Properties to the public. CP 33-35, 49-50, 62-63. Faire attests that during the sixty-eight years living in the area, he "never observed any member of the public accessing the alley that supposedly goes through the center of the Messersmith property."

II. Procedural History

Petitioners filed a Complaint against the Town of Rockford seeking to quiet title to the Subject Properties on November 29, 2021. CP 3-25. In the underlying lawsuit, both parties sought cross motions for Summary Judgment. CP 67-76, 80-87. Petitioners asserted that pursuant to the Nonuser Statue of 1890, now codified in RCW 36.87.090, the Subject Properties were vacated as they were unused for a period of five years. *Id.* Respondents contended that the Nonuser Statute did not apply as the Town of Rockford incorporated the Subject Properties during the five-year period. *Id.* The trial court found that no effort was made to develop or open the Subject Properties. As a result, the court found that the Subject Properties were vacated under the Nonuser Statute and granted summary judgment for the Petitioners. CP 134-36.

On May 18, 2023, the Washington Court of Appeals for Division III reversed and remanded the case with instructions to enter judgment in favor of the town of Rockford. Opinion, at p. 9. This was based upon the court's determination that the application of the nonuser statute, *see* LAWS **•**F 1889-9**•**, ch. 19, § 32, was limited to county roads, not those of a town or city. *Id.* at 8. The Court of Appeals subsequently denied Petitioner's motion for reconsideration on June 29, 2023.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

I. Standard of Review

Petitioners seek review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b). The rule

provides, in pertinent part:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

II. This Court should grant review on the grounds that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with existing precedent.

Courts in Washington have consistently held that summary judgment is inappropriate when there are "genuine issue[s] of material fact...." *Slack v. Luke*, 192 Wash. App. 909, 915, 370 P.3d 49 (2016) (citing *Lybbert v. Grant County*, 141 Wash.2d 29, 34, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000)). Here, the Court of Appeals reversed and remanded the case with instructions to enter judgment in favor of the defendants. Opinion, at p. 9. This is improper as there are competing declarations that demonstrate there is a genuine issue of material fact. *See* Opinion, at p. 3; A-12. This Court should grant review to resolve the discrepancy between existing precedent and the Court of Appeals decision.

III. Alternatively, this Court should grant review as this matter is an issue of substantial public concern.

To no fault of their own, Petitioners face losing portions of their property that had been in the control of previous owners for over a century. Notably, the deed to the property never indicated issues of ownership because it stated the alley was vacated. CP 100; A-15. Consequently, this matter is of substantial public concern because the Court of Appeals' decision establishes a precedent that will impact rural property owners across the state of Washington as demand for available land increases. The ambiguity surrounding the application of RCW 36.87.090 demands this Court provide clarity on the matter.

i. <u>This Court should recognize the distinction between</u> towns and cities under the Nonuser statute.

The Court of Appeals held that the distinction between a city and town is irrelevant when considering the application of the Nonuser Statute. Opinion, at p. 8-9. This is based upon its interpretation of Northwestern Indus., Inc. v. City of Seattle, 33 Wash. App. 757, 658 P.2d 24 (1983), which held that the annexation of a parcel by a city tolled the operation of the Nonuser Statute. Id. at 759-60. Further, the court relied on Brokaw v. Town of Stanwood, 79 Wash. 322, 140 P. 358 (1914), to illustrate that the Nonuser statute is inapplicable to plats annexed by towns. Opinion, at p. 8; 79 Wash. 322, 327. Ultimately, the Court of Appeals concluded that the nonuser statute is only applicable to county roads, which is reflected in the plain language of the nonuser statute. Opinion, at p. 8.

Both the Court of Appeals and the court in *Northwestern* acknowledged the possibility of the holding

in *Brokaw* pertaining to incorporation being dicta. Opinion, at p. 8; 33 Wash. App. at 761. Nonetheless, both courts explained that *Brokaw*, 79 Wash. at 327, made a correct statement of law regarding the incorporation of a plat into the town of Stanwood. Opinion, at p. 8; 33 Wash. App. at 761. Petitioners maintain that the distinction between cities and towns is of relevance, and respectfully request this Court to expressly address this matter.

> ii. The Laws of 1889-1890, Chapter 7, § 15 should be applied to invalidate the Appellant Town of Rockford's position that Center Avenue and the Alley are not property of the Respondents.

In the event this Court declines to recognize the distinction between towns and cities under the Nonuser statute, this distinction is still of significance under another theory. At the time the Petitioners' property was annexed and incorporated, towns (i.e., municipal corporations that were not at least third-class) were limited to being onesquare mile in size at the time. *See* Laws of 1889-90, Ch. 7, § 15.

Prior to the Washington State Legislature amending relevant portions of the laws in 1961, there was a longstanding problem of town-annexations exceeding the one-square mile limitation. *See* Laws of 1889-90, Ch. 7, § 15 ("Provided, That not more than one square mile shall be included within the corporate limits of municipal corporations of the fourth class..."). On March 31, 1961, the Legislature eliminated the threat of future challenges by enacting the following law:

Any incorporation of a municipal corporation of the fourth class and any annexation of territory to a municipal of the fourth class prior to the effective date of this act, which is otherwise valid except for compliance with the limitation to the area of one square mile as prescribed by section 15, page 141, Laws of 1889-90, is hereby validated and declared to be a valid incorporation or annexation in all respects.

1961 Wash. Laws Ex. Sess., Ch. 16, § 1.

This was not the Legislature's first attempt to resolve this conundrum. Prior attempts made by the Legislature had been ruled unconstitutional. *See Parosa v. Tacoma*, 57 Wash.2d 409, 357 P.2d 873 (1960). This prompted the legislature to enact 1961 Session Law, Chapter 277. The Governor, however, vetoed three sections of the law. The Legislature responded by enacting the aforementioned section. *See* 1961 Wash. Laws Ex. Sess., Ch. 16, § 1.

Governor Rosellini's veto-message on the second attempted fix makes plain the problem of invalid annexations and illustrates this is a matter of substantial public interest. *See id.* at 2256. During this period, municipalities were starting to expand, which brought the issue of invalid annexations to a breaking point. Despite compelling arguments supporting the validation of such incorporations, the Governor proceeded to veto relevant sections of Chapter 16. 1961 Wash. Laws Sess. In explaining their decision, the

Governor stated:

I cannot help but feel that it is unjust and violative of the most fundamental principles of our form of government to permit a small group of people, such as 300 inhabitants, to incorporate and to include within such incorporation or annexation, without the consent of the owners of such areas, unlimited tracts of land.

1961 Wash. Laws Ex. Sess., Ch. 16, 2255. The *Parosa* decision also sheds light on this background, emphasizing how it had always been accepted that annexations were invalid for exceeding the one square-mile limit, but that it had been thought original incorporations remained beyond challenge. 57 Wash.2d 409, 411. That is the reason for the "emergency" declaration. *See* 1961 Wash. Laws Ex. Sess., Ch. 16, § 3.

Petitioners face a similar issue to property owners prior to the enactment of Chapter 16 in 1961. As explained by Governor Rosellini, it is problematic to "permit a small minority to tax owners of large areas of land without their consent...." 1961 Wash. Ex. Sess., Ch. 16, § 3, 2256. Even if the Petitioners' property does not fall within the scope of the Nonuser statute, the incorporation was invalid from the start. This is clear upon evaluating the legislative history of relevant statutory provisions. *See* Laws of 1889-90, Ch. 7, § 15, 141. This Court should grant review to provide clarity on this issue stemming from years of statutory ambiguity.

F. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Petitioners respectfully request that the Court grant the Petition for Discretionary review.

I certify that the brief contains 2,126 words, excluding the parts of the brief exempted under RAP 18.17.