FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/24/2023 2:06 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 1022301

THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON Court of Appeals Division III No. 38906-5-III Spokane Superior Court. No. 21-2-03396-32

HAROLD T. MESSERSMITH and LISA R. BRYANT,

Husband and wife,

Petitioner,

TOWN OF ROCKFORD,

Respondent,

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Eric S. Hanson, WSBA #47381 Bishop Law Office Attorney for Appellant P.O. Box 337 213 W. California St. Garfield, WA 99130 (509) 635-1551

I. INTRODUCTION

The Town of Rockford, Defendant in the Superior Court, Appellant in the Court of Appeals, and Respondent before this Court, respectfully asks this Court to deny review of the Court of Appeals decision. That decision adhered to statutory language, and existing precedent to hold that a nineteenth-century statute about county roads ceased to apply within territory annexed to a town. This fact-bound dispute presents no issue of substantial public concern that this Court should determine, and this Court should reject Petitioners' attempt to inject a detailed and meritless claim —first raised in their motion for reconsideration before the Court of Appeals—about the validity of a nineteenth- century annexation.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Rockford is a municipal corporation. CP 4, 26. Harold T.

Messersmith and Lisa R. Bryant ("Messersmiths") are a
married couple who own property located in Waltman's

Addition to the Town of Rockford. CP3, 24. The plat of Waltman's Addition was filed June 5, 1889 with Spokane County, and recorded on June 12, 1889 with the Spokane County Auditor. CP 4, 19-20. One year later on June 18, 1890, Rockford annexed Waltman's Addition from the unincorporated area of Spokane County to the Town of Rockford. CP 5, 28.

Included in Waltman's Addition and dedicated to Rockford are platted streets (Center Avenue and Emma Street) that abut the Messersmiths' property, and an alley that runs through it. CP 49-50. The portions of the abutting streets to their respective centerlines and the portion of the alley overlapping the Messersmiths' property constitutes the "Subject Properties" disputed in this case.

In 2021, the Messersmiths initiated this action against Rockford seeking to quiet title and vest ownership of the Subject Properties to themselves. CP 3-25. The Messersmiths contend that because the Subject Properties were not developed,

as streets or an alley for five years from when Waltman's Addition was filed, they were automatically vacated pursuant to the Nonuser Statute. Laws Of 1889-90, Ch19, §32, *codified as* RCW 36.87.090. CP 5-7.

The parties filed cross motions for Summary Judgement. CP 67-79, 80-87. Rockford argued that the Subject Properties were not vacated pursuant to the Nonuser Statute because it applies only to counties and Rockford annexed the Subject Properties from Spokane County before the five year period had expired. CP 82-86. It is undisputed that the Town of Rockford annexed the Subject Properties one year after Waltman's Addition was filed in Spokane County four years before the expiration of the Nonuser Statute's five year period. CP 5, 28, 82.

The trial court entered judgment for the Messersmiths CP 147-157, but the Court of Appeals reversed and remanded with instructions to enter Judgment in favor of Rockford. The Court of Appeals found dispositive the legal argument that the

Nonuser Statute which applies only to counties was inapplicable to a town. The Court of Appeals subsequently denied the Messersmiths' motion for reconsideration.

III. ARGUMENT

The Messersmiths argue that this Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with precedent and raises an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should determine. *See* Petition at 6-14; RAP 13.4 (b). Those arguments lack merit.

A. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with existing precedent

To support their claim that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with precedent, the Messersmith point to no decision addressing the Nonuser Statute. Petition at 7-8. They just cite case law reciting the "no genuine issue as to any material fact" summary judgment standard, and claim that the Court of Appeals erred by finding no such issue. *Id.* This court should reject their attempt to pass of a factual dispute as a conflict of legal precedent.

The Court of Appeals decision followed the statue and precedent. The opening words of the Nonuser Statute limit it to counties: "any *county* road of part thereof, which has remained unopen for public use for a period of five years after the order is made or authority granted for opening it, shall be thereby vacated and the authority for building it barred by lapse of time." RCW 36.87.090 (emphasis added.) If a county road

passes out of county control and is annexed into a city or town before the five-year period runs, the Nonuser Statute does not vacate the road. *Brokaw v. Town of Stanwood*, 79 Wn. 332, 326, 140, P. 358 (1914).

"A material fact is one that affects the outcome of the litigation." Owen v. Burlington N. & Santa Fe R.R. Co., 153 Wn. 2d 780, 789, 108 P. 3d 1220 (2005). The fact that there are competing declarations as to whether the Subject Properties were ever developed is of no consequence. Cf. Petition at 7. The Court of Appeals held, based on Brokaw and Northwest Industries, Inc. v. City of Seattle, 33 Wn. App 757, 759-60, 658 P.2d 24(1983) that the Nonuser Statute ceased to apply to the Subject Properties once Rockford annexed Waltman's addition. Opinion at 8. The Court of Appeals conflicts with no precedent.

B. This matter presents no issue of substantial public concern that this Court should determine.

The Messersmiths also fail to show how this matter presents an issue of substantial public concern that this court should determine. Their unsubstantiated assertion that this case "will impact rural property owners across the state," Petition at 8, does nothing to expand the reach of this fact-bound dispute about matters that transpired in the nineteenth century. The Messersmiths do not stand to lose their property. The Subject Properties have always been Town rights of way. The fact that their deed did not accurately reflect that does not make this matter an issue of public concern. The Court of Appeals, following the plain wording of the Nonuser Statute, and well established case law, correctly held that distinguishing between towns and cities in applying the Nonuser Statute is irrelevant. A311 that matters is that they are not counties. Messersmiths fail to explain how that is an issue of substantial public concern.

Likewise, the Messersmiths' novel argument, —raised for the first time in their motion for reconsideration—that the annexation of Waltman's Addition was invalid, fails to raise an issue of substantial public concern. As even the Messersmiths point out, the Legislature eliminated future challenges to annexations in 1961. Petition at 11. Not only would such a challenge violate that statute, but a ruling that Waltman's Addition, which has been a part of Rockford for over a century, is no longer considered within the corporate limits of the Town would also have disastrous consequences threatening to upset long-settled jurisdictional boundaries across Washington. And because the Messersmiths raised this argument for the first time on a motion for reconsideration, this Court should decline to consider it because it consists of "facts recited in the briefs but not supported by the record." Sherry v. Financial Indem Co. 160 Wn. 2d 611, 615 n.1, 1600 P.3d 31(2007).

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals got it right; it followed clear statutory language and existing precedent to hold that Rockford's annexation stopped the five-year Nonuser Statute clock from running. The Messersmiths cannot convert this fact-bound dispute into an issue of substantial public concern that this Court should determine, and this Court should reject their attempt to inject a detailed and meritless claim — first raised in their motion for reconsideration before the Court of Appeals— about the validity of Rockford's 1890 annexation. Because this case fails to meet the standards of RAP 13 (b), the Town of Rockford asks this Court to deny the Messersmiths' petition for review.